2009

Willis Lauritz Petersen, Jr, Leslee P. Christensen,
Allan D. Petersen, Kristine Petersen Smith, and
Dean b. Petersen, as trustees of the Margaret Park
Petersen Family Living Trust v. Riverton City, a
municipality of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION BELOW

Issue 1: Did the district court err in granting summary judgment dismissing appellants Willis Lauritz Petersen, Jr., Leslee P. Christensen, Allan D. Petersen, Kristine Petersen Smith, and Dean B. Petersen, as trustees of the Margaret Park Petersen Family Living Trust's ("Petersen Family") Petition for Judicial Review of a Land Use Decision because the court did not apply the correct standard of review or misapplied the standard of review, including the following:

- A. Given the text of the Municipal Land Use Development Management Act ("LUDMA") and the due process and equal protection rights afforded by the state and federal constitutions, what is the correct standard of judicial review of a the denial by a municipality of a an application to rezone one parcel of land?
- B. Is the denial by Riverton City of the Petersen Family' application to rezone one parcel of property a legislative decision afforded broad legislative discretion or is such a decision a quasi- judicial decision subject to a higher standard of review?

- C. Does the reasonable debatable standard, codified in Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801(3)(b), require some record evidence supporting the Riverton City's denial of the Petersen Family's application to rezone one parcel or property?
- D. Does the reasonably debatable criteria set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801(3)(b) and § 10-9a-102 violate due process because it is so vague that it does not constitute any standard of review at all?

Preservation in District Court: Petitioners' Memorandum in Opposition to Riverton City's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 320-25); oral argument on Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 446).

Standard of Review: Summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. *Machock v. Fink*, 2006 UT 30 ¶8, 137 P.3d 779. The interpretation of a statute is an issue of law reviewed for correctness. *S. Utah Wilderness Alliance v. Automated Geographic Reference Ctr.*, 2008 UT 88 ¶13, 200 P.3d 643, 649.

Whether a statute is facially constitutional is a question of law. *Grand County v. Emery County*, 2002 UT 57 ¶ 6, 52 P.3d 1148.

Issue 2: Did the district court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Riverton City even though the record evidence shows that the decision was illegal because it was made by the same decisions makers who were seeking to buy part of the Peterson Family's land at issue and denied the Petersen Family equal protection and substantive and procedural due process?

Preservation in District Court: Petitioners' Memorandum in Opposition to Riverton City's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 320-28); oral argument on Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 446).

Standard of Review: Summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. *Machock v. Fink*, 2006 UT 30 ¶8, 137 P.3d 779. Whether a statute is constitutional is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *Grand County v. Emery County*, 2002 UT 57 ¶6, 52 P.3d 1148.

Whether a governmental entity has acted unconstitutionally is subject to a de novo standard of review. *State v. Barzee*, 2007 UT 95 ¶35, 177 P.3d 48.

Issue 3: Did the district court err in denying the Petersen Family's request under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f).

Preservation in District Court: Motion for Continuance Pursuant to Rule 56(f) and Rule 56(f) Affidavit of Dale F. Gardiner (R. 288-298).

Standard of Review: A denial of a Rule 56(f) Motion is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Salt Lake County v. W. Dairymen Coop.*, 2002 UT 39 ¶16, 48 P.3d 910.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-102(1)

Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801(8)(a)(i).

United States Const. amend. 14, § 1

Utah Const. art. I, § 7

Utah Const. art. I, § 24

Bradley v. Payson City Corp., 2003 UT 16, 70 P.3d 47. The Petersen Family contends that *Bradley* should be overturned based, in part, on Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-701(3)(a)(i) (2005).

Utah R. Civ. P. 56

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f)

Riverton City Zoning Ordinance 12-200-005

Riverton City Zoning Ordinance 12-200-010

Copies of the Determinative provision are attached as Exhibit A in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a summary judgment affirming Riverton City's denial of the Petersen Family's application ("Application") to rezone a 20.84-acre parcel of land ("Property"). In the Application, the Petersen Family sought a change in the zoning of their land from one-half acre lots to one-third acre lots; the same zoning granted to property across the street, on the same day that the City denied the Petersen Family's Application.

B. Course of Proceedings

The Petersen Family's request was for their property to be rezoned to the same zoning that had been granted to all recent rezone requests in the applicable municipal planning area. Even though granting the Petersen Family's rezone request was supported by the City's General Plan and the requested rezoning would have no adverse impact on traffic or the surrounding neighborhood, the Riverton City Planning Commission ("Planning Commission") recommended a denial of the request. The only stated basis for the recommendation to deny the Petersen Family's request was the Planning Commission's mistaken legal conclusion that to grant the request would constitute illegal spot zoning.

At the time the Planning Commission recommended that the Petersen Family's rezoning request be denied, it knew that the City was negotiating with the Petersen Family to purchase part of the parcel at issue for a park and/or flood control basin. The Planning

Commission knew that land zoned for one-third acre lots is worth more than land zoned for one-half acre lots.

After the Planning Commission's recommendation to deny to the Petersen Family' rezoning request, the Riverton City Council ("City Council") held a hearing on the request. The City Council was never informed as to the reason for the Planning Commission's recommendation to deny the request and the City Council was not informed that the Mayor and other City officials and employees had previously promised that the rezoning request would be granted. The City Council was aware, however, that the City was attempting to purchase a portion of the property for a park and or flood control basin.

The Peterson Family filed this case in August 2007 as a Petition for Judicial Review of a Land Use Decision ("Petition"). On appeal, the Petersen Family seeks review of Riverton City's denial of the Petersen Family's application to rezone its property from R-22 (one-half acre lots) to R-3 (one-third acre lots)

C. Disposition Below

On December 29, 2008, the district court entered Summary Judgment and Order of Dismissal by applying the following judicial standard of review:

[T]he Court notes that it has a very limited role in reviewing this challenge to the exercise of legislative discretion by the Riverton City Council on a petition for review which is subject to the highly deferential, reasonably debatable standard. The Court can only consider the record of proceedings before the City which has been provided by the City pursuant to section 10-9a-801, and it is not appropriate to permit discovery under these facts and circumstances. (R . 422-431.)

This appeal followed on Jan. 26, 2009 (R. 433-435).

D. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

1. The Petersen Family owns a 20.84-acre parcel of property at 12175 South 3600 West in Riverton, Utah (the “Property”). (R. 2.)

2. In 2007, the Petersen Family entered into a written contract with D.R. Horton, Inc. (“D.R. Horton”) for the sale of the Property for \$5.5 million. Closing and payment were contingent upon D.R. Horton obtaining final subdivision approval for a development acceptable to it. (R. 3.)

3. The Riverton City General Plan (“General Plan”), dated February 28, 2006, designates the Property as R-3 or low density residential zoning, which permits one-third acre lots. (R. 3.)

4. In May of 2007, D.R. Horton, on behalf of the Petersen Family, submitted the Application to rezone the Property from RR-22 (one-half acre lots) to R-3 (one-third acre lots), application number PLC-07-4009. (R. 3.)

5. No one-half acre residential subdivision lots are currently being developed in Riverton. In the last three years, only two residential subdivisions with one-half acre or larger lots have been approved by the Riverton City Council. These two subdivisions are in a municipal planning subarea different than the planning area containing the Property at issue. All other developments have included one-third acre, one-quarter acre, or smaller lots. (R. 3.)

6. The Property is located in planning subarea 2 of the planning subareas within the Riverton City General Plan. Three different zoning areas are located in planning subarea 2: R-1, which permits the construction of residences on one acre lots, R-3, which permits

the construction of residences on one-third acre lots, and R-4, which permits construction of residences on one-quarter acre lots. (R. 300, 334, *See* R. 10)

7. In recent years under Riverton City's General Plan, one-third acre or smaller lots are commonplace throughout planning subarea 2. The subdivision with one-acre lots in planning subarea 2 was built in the 1960s. (R. 8, 10, 301)

8. The overall unit density for planning subarea 2 is 2.8 development units "du"s/Acre. In other words, Riverton City's General Plan calls for, on average, 2.8 residences per acre in planning subarea 2 where the Property is located. (R. 301, 334)

9. The Riverton City General Plan establishes that only five of the fourteen Planning Subareas in Riverton City average less than 3.0 development units/acre or residences per acre. Two of those five parcels are zoned for commercial developments. Only three areas in the General Plan of the entire City of Riverton have densities less than 3.0 du/Acre. The density for these areas, however, is much higher than the number reflected on Riverton City's General Plan because the labeled density does not reflect the percentage of land dedicated to roads and sidewalks. (R. 301, 334, *See* R. 8).

10. Riverton City's subdivision ordinance provides that the requirements of the General Plan are mandatory. (R. 304). The General Plan designates the property in the planning subarea at issue as medium residential. *See* General Plan – Planning Subareas. (R. 333, 334) The Land Use General Plan Maps and Zoning Map are attached as Exhibit B in the Addendum.

11. On June 14, 2007, the Planning Commission convened and held a public hearing on the Petersen Family's Application. The Planning Commission observed that

rezoning the Property from RR-22 to R-3 complies with the General Plan and that the Property has sufficient access to accommodate R-3 development. (R. 303). The transcript of the Riverton City Planning Commission hearing is attached at Exhibit “C.” (R. 337-364)

12. Consistent with the City’s promise to grant the Petersen Family’s Application, the planning commission staff explained that the City was “facilitating” the rezone application. It was explained that the difference between one acre, one-half acre and-one third acre lot zoning was that one-acre zoning allows large animals:

PLANNER AAGARD: [T]his application has been initiated by D.R. Horton [on behalf of the property owner] and not by Riverton City. But we are facilitating this application for them. ***. The purposes of both zones are single family residential uses. The main differences between the two zones are as follows: The RR-22 and R-1 zone allow large animals as a permitted use. The R-3 zone does not. The lot sizes of the RR-22 and R-1 zones are one and one-half acre. And the R-3 zone allows a minimum of 14,000 or a third-acre lot.

Riverton City ordinances do have buffering measures where property zoned for animals are adjacent to property not zoned for animals. If the rezoned R-3 is approved by the Planning Commission and the City Council, those measures will be dealt with as part of the subdivision approval. This application is to discuss only the appropriateness of the property being zoned R-3 verses RR-22.

(R. 303)

13. The Staff then explained that the application complied with the City’s General Plan, but it was not explained that pursuant to the City’s Subdivision ordinance, the General Plan’s provisions are mandatory:

This is an image of the City’s General Plan. Riverton City – or
the rezone request does comply with the City’s General Plan.

(R. 303 emphasis added)

14. Next, the City Planner improperly injected the issue of the City's anticipated purchase of a portion of the parcel at issue followed by a "horse is out of the barn" instruction to the Planning Commission to disregard the issue:

There is a separate issue regarding the eastern end of the subject property. Riverton City has been working to acquire property in that location for a storm water management facility from the property owner, and recently the Applicant. Property acquisition and price negotiations are not the responsibility of the Planning Commission to consider and therefore should not be relevant to this zoning request.

(R. 303 emphasis added)

15. The Staff ended its presentation by recommending approval:

There is access to Janice Drive on the north and the south of the subject property. As well as access to 3600 West.

Because the rezone request of the R-3 zone does comply with the City's General Plan and sufficient [animal] buffering measures exist under City ordinances, the staff is recommending approval to the request to rezone to R-3.

(R. 303 emphasis added)

16. Unfortunately, but not surprisingly, the public discussion then focused on the City's prospective purchase:

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: Thank you.

UNIDENTIFIED MALE: So Andy, in this case, is "C" the storm water management facility that's being brought or –

PLANNER AAGARD: Yeah. That's an area that is being negotiated for that purpose.

UNIDENTIFIED MALE: What are "B" and "A"?

PLANNER AAGARD: I believe they'll be part of it. I'm not sure why they –

UNIDENTIFIED MALE: Part of the storm water management facility?

(R. 303 emphasis added)

17. During the public comment portion of the meeting, the Planner explained that those who had animals would still have the right to raise animals:

That means if you change the zoning, but you've been keeping horses on your land that entire time, you can go right on keeping those horses on your land, regardless of how the rezone occurs. The more common term for that is you're "grandfathered" in. Any you would continue to be able to have that right to keep animals on that land so long as you continuously do so and don't abandon that use for a period of time. Usually it's a year.

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: What he's talking about is people who are actually on R-22s, not the rezone area.

PLANNER AAGARD: Right. I understand that. So as I understand the Applicant's question is, would the people who do have animal use rights run in danger of losing them pursuant to unforeseen complaints brought by people who are neighbors to there, who don't have animal rights. And the shortest reply is only if a rezone occurs.

And I would just like to add that even if a rezone occurs that takes away the animal use rights on paper, you still have the right to use that land as legal non-conforming use right.

PLANNER AAGARD: And I would also say – I would also add that it's highly unusual. And in fact, in ten years of doing this, I've never seen an instance where a property's animal use rights have been taken away as a result of complaints levied by late-coming neighbors. Never seen that happen. World changes, but never seen that happen.

(R. 305)

18. After traffic questions by the public and members of the Planning Commission, the City's staff explained:

CITY ATTORNEY CARTER: Recently the Planning Commission received copies of the Master Transportation Plan because it was incorporated as an element to the General Plan. And it shows the roadway west for 3600 West to accommodate future growth in this area. And those estimates for the proper roadway width is based upon the notion that this will be built out in the future and operating at capacity. And the way in which they figured out how many people will be on there will be based upon density calculations following the General Plan guidelines.

And so based upon that, the conclusion is that the 3600 West width calculation that's recommended in the Master Transportation Plan is at a certain width. And I think this is an arterial street as you mentioned.

And I also understand, although I could be corrected on this, but the net effect is that the developer would be required to dedicate along 3600 West to accommodate the roadway width in that area because it will need to be widened insofar as that stretch is concerned.

That's basically how that's handled.

(R. 308)

19. The Planning Commission recommended denial of the rezone application.

The one and only stated reason was the mistaken conclusion that to grant the application would constitute spot zoning:

COMMISSIONER HANSEN: Mr. Chairman, I'm ready to make a motion.

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER HANSEN: I make a motion that we deny PL 07-4009 to rezone the third-acre lots.

My personal opinion is that would be spot zoning. It's in the middle of R-22 and R-1. So I don't think it needs to be there.

COMMISSIONER LLOYD: I second.

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: Okay. We have a motion.
Do I have a second?

COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Second.

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: Mr. Lloyd seconds.

All those in favor?

COMMISSIONER ALLFREY: Aye.

COMMISSIONER BROWN: Aye.

COMMISSIONER HANSEN: Aye.

COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Aye.

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: Any opposed?

COMMISSIONER DENNEY: Aye.

COMMISSION CHAIR BROWN: Okay. Motion carries four-
to-one.

(R. 310)

20. The Petersen Family continued to pursue their Application before the City Council. (R. 312) A transcript of the City Council proceedings is attached as Exhibit D.

21. On July 10, 2007, the City Council convened and held a public hearing on the Application. (R. 4.) However, the City Council was not informed of the basis for the Planning Commission's denial recommendation. The City Council's staff also combined the Peterson Family's Application in with another application to rezone land across the street.

MR. LETHBRIDGE: This first item – and let me just point out, in case there is any confusion, there are two rezones that are being proposed by D.R. Horton. One of the east side of 3600 West and the other on the west side.

Again the Staff improperly injected the issue of the City's proposed purchase of portion of the land to be rezoned. There is a portion of this property in the northeast corner, and it's the larger parcel shown on your drawing there, that the City has been pursuing since prior to the rezone request for a regional storm drainage facility. And so while it is certainly part of the overall picture, we have been pursuing that acquisition since prior to this request for a rezone.

So we are looking at a portion of this property as a regional storm drain facility that would include property outside of just this area.

A transcript of the City Council's hearing on the Application is attached as Exhibit D.

(emphasis added). (R. 313, 366-384)

22. After a resident expressed the concern that the rezone would cause a subdivision to be connected on to Janice Drive, the City Planner explained the road would be connected regardless of the rezone:

MR. LETHBRIDGE: Yeah. Ultimately, regardless of the density of the property, there will be a road connection on Janice Drive.

(R. 314)

23. The Mayor and City Council then improperly placed the Peterson Family's application with the application across the street and told the City Council the City was looking at about 200 homes:

THE MAYOR: Okay. It would be less than 200. And worse case – and it's on both sides of 36. So 36 would be the major street that would be impacted and you'd be right in there. Yeah. Id. at 7:19-12.

(R. 316)

24. The discussion above demonstrates that City Council misapprehended the Petersen Family's Application. The Mayor stated that the Petersen Family's Application involved the potential construction of approximately 200 homes. The Application, however, involves only 20.84 acres which supports, at most, only 62 residences¹, not the 200 residences that were the subject of a separate D.R. Horton application. (R. 316)

25. After lumping the two applications together and believing that a rezone would result in 200 additional homes, the City Council returned to a discussion of its intent to purchase a portion of the Peterson Family's land at issue:

UNIDENTIFIED MALE: Show us where the detention basin is planned. Right here?

MR. LETHBRIDGE: This is the area for the proposed detention basin. So it would sit up against the canal, again kind of in that northeast corner.

UNIDENTIFIED MALE: A regional; isn't it?

MR. LETHBRIDGE: Yes. So it's not simply to accommodate the drainage for this proposed project. It would take in a much broader area.

UNIDENTIFIED MALE: Has that been donated to the City or are we buying it?

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