2009

# Willis Lauritz Petersen v. Riverton City, a municipality of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Petersen Family's arguments explicitly challenging the reasonably debatable standard of review in the context of a single-parcel rezone were not presented to the district court. Therefore they should not be considered here. Moreover, such arguments fail on the merits.

For example, the argument that a decision on a single parcel rezone is necessarily a quasi-judicial or administrative act is contrary to nearly a half century of well-established precedent in Utah case law. Further, the argument ignores the quintessentially legislative function and actions of the City Council in this particular case. Here, the application required the Council to decide between two zoning designations that were both consistent with the City's General Plan, and which required the Council to weigh and consider public policy issues, neighboring land uses, trends, and potential impacts on immediately surrounding properties.

Applying the appropriate standard of review, the district court correctly upheld the City Council's exercise of legislative discretion in deciding not to rezone the Petersen Family's Property from RR-22 to R-3 because it was not arbitrary or capricious. The decision was at least reasonably debatable because: 1) both the zoning density on the property as it currently exists and the zoning designation the Petersen Family wanted to see applied by amendment were consistent with the City's General Plan for the area; 2) the change in zoning was opposed by residents appearing at the public hearings on the application who were particularly concerned with compatibility with neighboring properties which had large animal rights; and 3) the zoning designation which the City Council decided to maintain was more compatible with the less dense, more rural zoning designations on the majority of properties which were immediately adjacent to the Petersen Family's Property.

Nor was the City Council's decision illegal as a violation of the Petersen Family's constitutional equal protection or due process rights. Regardless of the allegedly improper motivations which Appellants argue may have influenced the City Council, there was an objectively rational basis for the Council's decision. Equal protection review does not require more, nor allow an inquiry into individual legislator's subjective motivations. No due process claim is viable because it is well settled under these circumstances that Appellants had no right or entitlement to a

favorable decision on whether or not to rezone the Property. Thus, the Peterson Family did not have the necessary constitutionally protected property interest for any alleged due process violation.

Finally, the district court correctly denied the Petersen Family's motion for discovery. They brought their Petition explicitly pursuant to section 10-9a-801, which expressly requires that judicial review be conducted on the record of proceedings before the City. Moreover, the Petersen Family failed to identify by pleading or argument any viable constitutional claim to which such discovery would be relevant. The district court's decision was correct in all respects, and should be upheld.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE CITY'S DECISION WHETHER TO AMEND THE ZONING DESIGNATION APPLICABLE TO THE PETERSEN FAMILY'S 20.84 ACRE PROPERTY WAS AN EXERCISE OF LEGISLATIVE DISCRETION SUBJECT TO THE REASONABLY DEBATABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW.**

Despite counsel's explicit concession to the district court "that the standard is reasonably debatable and that the controlling cases are the [Bradley v.] Payson City cases," the Appellants' primary argument on appeal is now that "the individual, small-scale requests for a zoning change on a particular piece of property, such as is at issue in this case, require a quasi-judicial determination and should be viewed

under the substantial evidence standard.” Aplt’s Br. p. 23. According to Appellants, the Court’s statement in Bradley v. Payson City, that “the enactment and amendment of zoning ordinances is fundamentally a legislative act,” is not “sustainable in light of the substantial Utah case law expressly distinguishing between general, large-scale ordinances and policies and the small, individualized municipal decisions.” Id. They go on to assert:

Utah Courts have routinely considered these small-scale, individual decisions to be quasi-judicial in other contexts and there is no basis for ignoring that distinction in the zoning context. To the contrary, these are precisely the types of decisions for which judicial oversight is strongly needed.

Id.

This new argument squarely attacking the standard of review and requesting that this Court re-examine and overrule the Bradley decision is directly contrary to what the Petersen Family explicitly conceded to the district court. R. 446 (“I agree that the standard is reasonably debatable and that the controlling cases are the [Bradley v.] Payson City cases”). “As a general rule, claims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal.” Tschaggeny v. Milbank Ins. Co., 2007 UT 37 ¶ 20, 163 P.3d 615. “The rule exists ‘to give the trial court an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it.’” Id. (citations omitted). It

also “prevents a party from avoiding the issue at trial for strategic reasons only to raise the issue on appeal if the strategy fails.” Id. See also Pratt v. Nelson, 2007 UT 41, P 15, 164 P.3d 366 (“[T]o preserve an issue for appeal the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). Thus this Court should respectfully decline to address Appellants’ belated challenge to the reasonably debatable standard on appeal.

Even if the Court deems it appropriate to address the argument without the benefit of the district court’s consideration, it nonetheless fails on the merits for several reasons. First, Appellants ignore the substantial and long standing precedent in Utah case law, well prior to Bradley v. Payson City, which consistently treats the decision whether to amend a zoning ordinance applicable to a single parcel of property as a fundamentally legislative, not administrative or quasi-judicial, decision. See, e.g., Dowse v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 255 P.2d 723 (Utah 1953) (upholding City decision not to rezone a single parcel from residential to commercial because “[p]alpably the exercise of the zoning power is a legislative function and activity.”); Gayland v. Salt Lake County, 358 P.2d 633, 636 (Utah 1961) (refusing to overturn decision not to rezone plaintiff’s 18 acre parcel because “[i]n pursuing its authority to zone the county the Commission is performing a legislative function.”);



Naylor v. Salt Lake City Corp., 410 P.2d 764, 765-66 (Utah 1966)(upholding zone change applicable to one-half city block as legislative action because “the court will not invade the province of the Commission and substitute its judgment therefor; nor will it interfere with the prerogatives of the Commission unless it is shown to be so clearly in error that there is no reasonable basis whatsoever to justify it and its action”); Chevron Oil Co. v. Beaver County, 449 P.2d 989 (Utah 1966)(upholding decision not to rezone land next to freeway offramps as legislative decision because “the courts do not ordinarily interfere in such matters”); Crestview-Holladay Homeowners Ass'n v. Engh Floral Co., 545 P.2d 1150, 1152 (Utah 1976)(upholding rezoning decision applicable to one business property as rationally related to legitimate goals as valid exercise of city's legislative discretion); Smith Investment Co. v. Sandy City, 958 P.2d 245, 252 (Utah App. 1998)(City's decision to downzone single 15.8 acre parcel upheld as reasonably debatable, legislative action); Harmon City, Inc. v. Draper, 2000 UT App 31, 997 P.2d 321 (upholding City decision to deny rezone application for single 10.3 acre parcel as legislative action that was reasonably debatable); Webber v. South Salt Lake City, 2002 UT App 208 (upholding denial of a rezone request for a single parcel and observing “[w]hen reviewing a municipality's denial of a request for a zoning reclassification, we consider whether it is ‘reasonably debatable’ that the municipality's legislative

decision serves ‘the interest of the general welfare.’”); Bradley v. Payson City, 2003 UT 16, 70 P.3d 47 (upholding decision to deny rezone of a single parcel as reasonably debatable legislative action); Tolman v. Logan City, 2007 UT App 260, 167 P.3d 489 (upholding decision to deny rezone applicable to plaintiffs’ single property because the decision was consistent with the City’s General Plan “and satisfies the reasonably debatable standard for such land use decisions.”).

This line of cases recognizes that the legislative process involved in weighing and considering the kind of public policy issues presented by a request to rezone a particular parcel of property is inherently subjective and political in nature, requiring local legislators to exercise broad discretion in balancing the competing interests of all concerned in furtherance of the health, safety and general welfare of the community. The cases from other jurisdictions which Appellants do cite provide no basis for disturbing this well-established precedent. Smith Inv. Co. v. Sandy City, 958 P.2d 245, 252 n. 9 (Utah App. 1998) (“With the wealth of Utah law on this subject, we reject Sandy Hills’s attempt to import a different standard from a different jurisdiction.”).<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>Even the cases cited by The Petersen Family themselves from other jurisdictions do not support their position. As the Colorado Court noted in the Margaolis case which the Petersen Family cites, and incorrectly characterize (Aplts.’ Br. At 22):

Moreover, the Petersen Family's argument ignores both what it concedes to be the controlling case law, governing statutes and the facts of this case. For example, the Petersen Family admits, as they must, that "the determination of zoning policy [is] properly vested in the legislative branch." See Aplt.' Br. P. 22 (citing Scherbel v. Salt Lake City Corp., 758 P.2d 897, 899 (Utah 1988))("the determination of zoning policy is properly vested in the legislative branch"). In this case, while it is arguable that the City's General Plan might also support the higher density zoning the Petersen Family wanted applied to the Property, there is also no question but that the current zoning, which the City Council determined not to

---

Arvada argues that a rezoning involving a small tract such as that rezoned in the present case under review is more adjudicative or quasi-judicial, and thus ought not be subject to referendum and initiative. We do not find such an analysis persuasive. . . . [¶] While decisions on "small" rezonings may directly affect only a few people, such decisions may more properly be seen as the setting of policy for the future. While rezonings occur more frequently than initial zonings, they likewise tend to be permanent in nature. See Arnel, supra, for a listing of California cases which hold rezoning of "small" parcels of land to be legislative.

In view of the purposes for which the referendum and initiative powers were reserved, and the nature of the acts themselves, we find that zoning and rezoning decisions – no matter what the size of the parcel of land involved – are legislative in character and subject to the referendum and initiative provisions of the Colorado Constitution.

Margaolis v. Dist. Ct., 638 P.2d 298, 304 (Colo. 1984).

change, also falls well within the uses contemplated by the General Plan for that area and is more consistent with immediately neighboring properties.

The choice by the City's legislative body between two alternative zoning designations which are both contemplated by and consistent with the General Plan is, by its very nature, a policy-based, legislative decision. Appellants point to no evidence in the record of proceedings that the City Council took any "quasi-judicial" action by applying fixed land use regulations which would somehow have dictated the appropriate result in this particular situation. There are simply no facts to suggest that the City Council's decision to maintain the existing zoning on a relatively large, 20 plus acre parcel to be consistent with the majority of immediately neighboring properties is anything other than a "determination of zoning policy [] properly vested in the legislative branch."

The Petersen Family's additional argument, that section 10-9a-701 implies the "substantial evidence" standard is appropriate because "the function of the City Council in a one parcel rezone is substantively that of an appeal authority" (Aplts.' Br. pp. 23-24), is nonsensical. That section requires a municipality to establish an "appeal authority" to hear "requests for variances from the terms of land use ordinances; and appeals from decisions applying land use ordinances," and provides that in those circumstances the appeal authority shall act in a quasi-judicial manner.

See Utah Code Ann. §10-9a-701(3) (emphasis added). Riverton City Code § 12-130-025 establishes a Board of Adjustment which is empowered to hear precisely these type of administrative matters. See Riverton City Code § 12-13–025(A.), (B.).

By contrast, the controlling provisions of both state statute and Riverton City ordinance specify that only the City Council has the authority to amend zoning ordinances. See Riverton City Code § 12-200-010; Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-503. The fact that the City Planning Commission is both empowered and required to make a recommendation on such applications for rezoning to the City Council does nothing to convert the rezoning decision itself into any sort of appellate, administrative or quasi judicial proceeding like those that occur before Boards of Adjustment. Both the proceedings contemplated by section 10-9a-701 and the decisions made under authority of that section are administrative in nature, and if anything that statute illustrates the legislative nature of decisions made by the legislative body with respect to amendments of zoning ordinances.

## **II. THE CITY'S DECISION WAS NOT ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS.**

### **A. Appellants' Substantial Evidence Arguments fail.**

Applying the erroneous, “substantial evidence” standard of review, the Petersen Family first argues that the City’s decision to deny the rezone application was arbitrary or capricious because it was not supported by “substantial evidence.” See Apls.’ Br. at 24-27. They assert this is so because: 1) there were answers, in many cases provided by City staffers or planning commissioners, to all of the concerns raised by neighbors and others during the public hearings; 2) the City Council considered the impact of a proposed larger, neighboring development in connection with consideration of potential development of the Petersen Family’s Property; and 3) one of the planning commissioners stated his “personal opinion” that approval of the application would constitute “spot zoning.” Id. However, these circumstances, considered separately or in combination, fail to make the City’s decision less than reasonably debatable.

Whatever additional information might have been considered or answers provided to address questions raised, it is clear the record contains evidence that would make the rezone of the property reasonably debatable. Both the zoning density on the property as it currently exists and the zoning designation the Petersen

Family wanted to see applied by amendment were consistent with the City's General Plan for the area. All residents appearing at the public hearings opposed the rezone based upon concerns about compatibility with neighboring properties which had large animal rights. Finally, the zoning designation which the City Council decided to maintain was more compatible with the less dense, more rural zoning designations on the majority of properties which were immediately adjacent to the Petersen Family's Property.

While Appellants correctly point out that there is also evidence that the concerns expressed could be addressed or some information was incorrect, they do not establish that the decision to maintain the less dense, more rural nature of the Petersen Family's Property which it believed was more compatible with the immediately surrounding properties was somehow arbitrary and capricious. As the Court stated in Gayland v. Salt Lake County:

Even though it be true that information was presented at the hearing which would have justified the Commission in amending the zoning ordinance as advocated, it is also true that the situation presented can be so viewed as to point to the conclusion that the action taken was reasonable and proper. Under such circumstances it was not the prerogative of the court to substitute its judgment for that of the Commission.

358 P.2d at 636.

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